THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

Appellate Case No. 2016-000561

SEP 16 2016

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

John Gregory,

Appellant,

v.

Mark Keel, Chief of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) and the State  
of South Carolina,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Charles T. Brooks, III, S.C. Bar # 11762  
Attorney for Appellant  
309 Broad Street  
Post Office Box 3512  
Sumter, South Carolina 29151

SLED  
Adam L. Whitsett, Esq.  
Post Office Box 21398  
Columbia, South Carolina 29221  
Attorney for Respondent

Office of SC Attorney General

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY GRANTING RESPONDENTS JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS BECAUSE A GENUINE ISSUE EXISTS AS TO THE MATERIAL FACT REGARDING VIABLE REMEDIES AVAILABLE FOR APPELLANT FOR REMOVAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY?**
2. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY GRANTING RESPONDENTS JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS BECAUSE THE SOUTH CAROLINA SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY LAWS DO NOT PROVIDE AN ADEQUATE AND COMPLETE REMEDY AT LAW, THEREBY MAKING EQUITABLE RELIEF AN APPROPRIATE REMEDY AVAILABLE TO APPELLANT?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was initiated by Appellant filing on January 8, 2015, a Summons and a Petition for Declaratory Judgment for equitable relief for removal from the registry requirements under “Megan’s Law”, mandating registration with the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry. (R. pp. 9-14) Respondents filed an answer generally denying the allegations in Appellant’s Petition for Declaratory Judgment. (R. pp. 15-18) Respondents also filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings asserting that the Appellant was not entitled to equitable relief because the statute governing removal from the Registry provides an adequate remedy at law. (R. pp. 19-25)

A hearing was held on February 2, 2016, on the Respondents’/Defendants’ Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings before the Honorable Paul M. Burch. The Court entered judgment in favor of the motion concluding that the Appellant was not entitled to any equitable remedy and

that no equitable jurisdiction applied to the relief the Appellant sought. (R. p 1) This appeal follows.

### ARGUMENT

Summary judgment is defined by Rule 12(c), SCRCP: If, on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56. *Hooper v. Ebenezer*, 377 S.C. 217, 659 S.E.2d 213 (Ct. App. 2008).

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id. citing Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 633 S.E.2d 505 (2006); *Houck v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 366 S.C. 7, 11, 620 S.E.2d 326, 329 (2005); *Bradley v. Doe*, 374 S.C. 622, 649 S.E.2d 153 (Ct. App. 2007); *Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co.*, 370 S.C. 578, 635 S.E.2d 649 (Ct. App. 2006).

In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id. citing Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co.*, 363 S.C. 334, 611 S.E.2d 485 (2005); *Medical Univ. of S.C. v. Arnaud*, 360 S.C. 615, 602 S.E.2d 747 (2004); *Hackworth v. Greenville County*, 371 S.C. 99, 102, 637 S.E.2d 320, 322 (Ct. App. 2006); *Rife v. Hitachi Constr. Mack Co., Ltd.*, 363 S.C. 209, 609 S.E.2d 565 (Ct. App. 2005).

Further, since the purpose of summary judgment is to expedite the disposition of cases where the services of a fact finder are not necessary, it is a drastic remedy. *Id. citing Dawkins v.*

*Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 438 (2003)( *quoting George v. Fabri*, 345 S.C. 440, 452, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874 (2001); *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 217, 644 S.E.2d 740, 744 (Ct. App. 2007); *Mulherin-Howell v. Cobb*, 362 S.C. 588, 596-97, 608 S.E.2d 587, 592 (Ct. App. 2005). “Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues. *Id. citing Helena Chem. Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 631, 644, 594 S.E.2d 455, 462 (2004); *B & B Liquors, Inc. v. O’Neil*, 361 S.C. 267, 270, 603 S.E.2d 629, 631 (Ct. App. 2004).

**I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY GRANTING RESPONDENTS JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS BECAUSE A GENUINE ISSUE EXISTS AS TO THE MATERIAL FACT REGARDING VIABLE REMEDIES AVAILABLE FOR APPELLANT FOR REMOVAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY.**

The Respondents argued that judgment should be granted on the pleadings because the pleadings herein presented no cause of action in favor of the plaintiff pursuant to the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry statutes, S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 23-3-400 *et seq.* (R. p. 24)

The Respondents relied on *Rosenthal v. Unarco Indus. Inc.*, 278 S.C. 420, 422, 297 S.E.2d 638, 640 (1982) citing *Wooten v. Std. Life and Casualty Ins. Co.*, 239 S.C. 243, 122 S.E.2d 637 (1961), asserting a “motion for Judgment on the Pleadings is proper where pleadings entitle a party to judgment without proof, by disclosure of all facts, where the pleadings present no issue of fact or present merely an immaterial issue.”

In further support for the Respondents’ Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, Respondents argue that the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry law, specifically S.C. Code Ann Sec. 23-3-460, provides that a person is required to register biannually for life and the

statute provides remedies for removal. ( R. p 22) The Respondents argue that since the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry statutes are clear and unambiguous on the face of the statutes, no equitable remedy exists for the Appellant to be removed from the Registry, other than the statutory remedies provided by the law. (R. p 22)

South Carolina Code Ann. Section 23-3-430(E) provides “SLED shall remove a person’s name and any other information concerning that person from the sex offender registry immediately upon notification by the Attorney General that the person’s adjudication, conviction, guilty plea, or plea of *nolo contendere* for an offense listed in subsection (C) was reversed, overturned, or vacated on appeal and a final judgment has been rendered.” Another statutory remedy for removal is found in South Carolina Code Section 23-3-430(F) which provides an offender who receives a pardon “based on a finding of not guilty specifically state in the pardon” shall be removed from the registry. A third category for statutory remedy for removal is found in South Carolina Code Section 23-3-430(G) where a person may be removed if exonerated subsequent to filing a petition for a writ of habeas corpus or a motion for a new trial. (R. p 21)

The Appellant argues that equity was appropriate here because the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry laws regarding removal did not provide an adequate or complete remedy at law for Appellant because Appellant could not avail himself of any of the statutory remedies because none of the statutory provisions for removal apply to Appellant’s situation because he was convicted of a qualifying offense and served his time. He has subsequently registered and complied with all of the registry provisions since his release from incarceration. (R. p 12) The statutory provisions specify removal is possible in limited situations such as the reversal of a conviction, a specific pardon of not guilty, or exoneration through a new trial or a writ of habeas

corpus; none of which apply to Appellant's situation. The statutory provisions do not allow for any type of review for removal especially where there is no evidence of the likelihood of re-offense. Therefore, in the case where a person was convicted and served time and has no grounds to avail him or herself of the statutory grounds for removal from the registry, no adequate and complete remedy exists at law and equitable relief would be appropriate.

After considering the arguments of the parties, the Trial Court concluded that there was no genuine issue of material fact to suggest that Appellant/Plaintiff meets any of the statutory grounds for removal from South Carolina's Sex Offender Registry law, which mandates lifetime registration. Accordingly, the Trial Court concluded that the Respondents/Defendants were entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The Trial Court erred in granting the Respondents' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings because the issue here, specifically as it relates to the motion, is the fact that Appellant does not have an adequate or complete remedy at law for removal from the Registry because the statutory provisions are not a complete and adequate remedy at law, especially when the statutory provision do not include any review mechanisms for lifelong registration, therefore equitable relief would be appropriate.

While the Trial Court concluded that the Registry laws are unambiguous as to the requirement for registration for life, the genuine issue of fact in dispute here is the law's application to a person, such as Appellant, who has no legal remedy available under the law, thereby requiring that equitable relief be available. As in the case here, if the statutory provisions for removal are limited in nature, then the provisions do not provide a complete and adequate remedy at law and equity is and should be available for relief. A genuine issue of fact then exists as to whether the Appellant can avail himself of relief through and pursuant to the

equitable remedies of the court when an adequate and complete remedy does not exist under the law.

The very fact that the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry laws do not provide a remedy at law for Appellant's situation is the reason why Appellant filed an action seeking equitable relief for removal from the Registry. The Trial Court's granting of the Respondents' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings is the type of drastic remedy that is error, thereby depriving the Appellant of a trial on the disputed factual issues of whether equitable relief can be afforded to the Appellant for removal from the Registry. As a result, the Order of the Trial Court should be reversed and the case remanded for a full hearing on the disputed issues.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY GRANTING RESPONDENTS JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS BECAUSE THE SOUTH CAROLINA SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY LAWS DO NOT PROVIDE AN ADEQUATE AND COMPLETE REMEDY AT LAW, THEREBY MAKING EQUITABLE RELIEF AN APPROPRIATE REMEDY FOR APPELLANT.**

Summary judgment is defined by Rule 12(c), SCRCP: If, on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56. *Hooper v. Ebenezer*, 377 S.C. 217, 659 S.E.2d 213 (Ct. App. 2008).

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to

judgment as a matter of law. *Id. citing Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 633 S.E.2d 505 (2006); *Houck v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 366 S.C. 7, 11, 620 S.E.2d 326, 329 (2005); *Bradley v. Doe*, 374 S.C. 622, 649 S.E.2d 153 (Ct. App. 2007); *Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co.*, 370 S.C. 578, 635 S.E.2d 649 (Ct. App. 2006).

In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id. citing Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co.*, 363 S.C. 334, 611 S.E.2d 485 (2005); *Medical Univ. of S.C. v. Arnaud*, 360 S.C. 615, 602 S.E.2d 747 (2004); *Hackworth v. Greenville County*, 371 S.C. 99, 102, 637 S.E.2d 320, 322 (Ct. App. 2006); *Rife v. Hitachi Constr. Mack Co., Ltd.*, 363 S.C. 209, 609 S.E.2d 565 (Ct. App. 2005).

Further, since the purpose of summary judgment is to expedite the disposition of cases where the services of a fact finder are not necessary, it is a drastic remedy. *Id. citing Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 438 (2003) (quoting *George v. Fabri*, 345 S.C. 440, 452, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874 (2001); *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 217, 644 S.E.2d 740, 744 (Ct. App. 2007); *Mulherin-Howell v. Cobb*, 362 S.C. 588, 596-97, 608 S.E.2d 587, 592 (Ct. App. 2005). “Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues. *Id. citing Helena Chem. Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 631, 644, 594 S.E.2d 455, 462 (2004); *B & B Liquors, Inc. v. O’Neil*, 361 S.C. 267, 270, 603 S.E.2d 629, 631 (Ct. App. 2004).

Generally, equitable relief is available only where there is no adequate remedy at law. *Santee Cooper Resort, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 298 S.C. 179, 185, 379 S.E.2d 119, 123 (1989). “An adequate remedy at law is one which is as certain, practical, complete and efficient to attain the ends of justice and its administration as the remedy in equity.” *Id.*

Respondents argue that the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry laws provide the complete remedy for statutory removal from the Registry. (R. p 21) Appellant argues that the statutory remedies do not apply to him because the provisions only offer limited situations in which a person can petition for removal from the register and an entire class of people like Appellant do not have adequate relief under the law for removal when no provisions exists when a person has been convicted, served the sentence and registers in compliance with the law for a certain period of time, and has no remedy for review for lifetime registration. Therefore, the Appellant argues that there is no remedy at law for his removal from the Registry because the remedies are not certain, practical, or complete as they relate to his situation. Consequentially, if no remedy exists at law, the Appellant should be able to avail himself of the equitable remedies of the court. (R. p. 36-38)

The Trial Court granted Judgment on the Pleadings, concluding that the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry laws offered an adequate and complete remedy at law for removal from the registry, therefore, equitable relief would not be appropriate for the Appellant. The Trial Court's ruling is in error because a genuine issue as to the material fact of whether the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry laws offered an adequate and complete remedy at law for removal from the Registry for Appellant exists. It was inappropriate for the Trial Court to grant relief on the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings since there is a dispute between the parties regarding the factual issues of whether the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry laws offer an adequate and complete legal remedy for removal from the Registry, or if equitable relief is available in the absence of adequate and complete legal relief under the statute. Since there is a genuine disputed issue as to the facts, the granting of Judgment on the Pleadings was not appropriate.

The Trial Court's granting of the Respondents' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings is the type of drastic remedy that is error, thereby depriving the Appellant of a trial on the disputed factual issues of whether equitable relief can be afforded to the Appellant for removal from the Registry in light of the fact that the statutory remedies are not an adequate and complete remedy at law. As a result, the Order of the Trial Court should be reversed and the case remanded for a full hearing on the disputed issues.

Also, the Trial Court's Order notes that Appellant/Plaintiff argues that lifelong registration constitutes a "wrong" that would justify the Court fashioning an equitable personal remedy. The Trial Court found this argument without merit. However, in *State v. Dykes*, 403 S.C. 499, 744 S.E.2d 505 (2013), the Appellant contested the Circuit Court's Order requiring her to be subjected to satellite monitoring for the rest of her life pursuant to the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry laws, specifically, S.C. Code Ann. Section 23-3-540(C) and (H). The South Carolina Supreme Court invalidated the section of the statute that required lifetime satellite monitoring without judicial review as unconstitutional and left effective the remaining portion of the statute.

Herein, while the Respondents argued that the Appellant was asking the Trial Court to rewrite the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry laws by providing a remedy not allowed by the statute, the Appellant in fact was asking the Trial Court to allow the exercise of equitable relief since the statute does not provide an adequate and complete remedy at law for removal from the Registry. The Appellant's request for equitable relief is far less imposing than the invalidation of a section of the statute by the South Carolina Supreme Court.

The Appellant maintains that the equitable relief he seeks should proceed to trial on the disputed facts and that the granting of the Motion for Judgment on the pleadings was improper by the Trial Court.

### CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Order Granting Judgment on the Pleadings of the Trial Court should be reversed and/or remanded for a full hearing on the disputed issues, and for the granting of any other remedy that is just and proper in this case.