ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Paul M. Burch
Circuit Court Judge

Appellant Case No.: 2016-000561

RECEIVED

SEP 22 2016

SC Court of Appeals

John Gregory, Appellant,

v.

Mark Keel, Chief of the South Carolina
Law Enforcement Division,
and the State of South Carolina, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ADAM L. WHITSETT
General Counsel
South Carolina Law Enforcement Division
Post Office Box 21398
Columbia, South Carolina 29221-1398
Phone: (803) 896-0647

T. PARKIN HUNTER
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General
State of South Carolina
Post Office Box 11549

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court did not err in granting summary judgment to respondents because no genuine issue of material fact exists and the only relief sought in this action is not available as a matter of law.
- II. The trial court did not err in granting summary judgment to respondents because the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry Act (SORA), S.C. Code §§ 23-3-400 *et seq.*, provides adequate relief to all sex offenders in South Carolina, including appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant was convicted of six (6) counts of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree in violation of § 16-3-652 of the South Carolina Code of Laws in 1996. (Tr. p. 5)(R. p. 30). The Plaintiff was sentenced to 15 years' incarceration for these convictions.¹ (Trial Court Order p. 1)(R. p. 1). Upon being released from incarceration, the Plaintiff was required to register as a sex offender pursuant to the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry Act, § 23-3-400 *et seq.* ("SORA") and did in fact so register. *Id.* On or about April 17, 2015, the appellant filed a summons and complaint initiating this action seeking only equitable relief. (Complaint p. 3)(R. p. 12). Further, the appellant acknowledges that he does not meet the statutory criteria for removal set forth in the plain language of SORA. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(E), (F), (G). (Tr. pp. 11-12)(R. pp. 36-7). The respondents filed an answer and a motion for summary judgment.² The Honorable Paul M. Burch heard the motion on February 2, 2016 and granted respondents summary judgment in an order filed on February 23, 2016. This appeal follows.

¹ However, this sentence was suspended to three years' incarceration and five years' probation. (Trial Court Order p. 1)(R. p. 1).

² Appellant argues against judgment on the pleadings throughout his initial brief and cites to case law regarding such. This is error. This appeal arose subsequent to the grant of summary judgment to the Respondents, not judgment on the pleadings.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, appellate courts apply the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCP.” Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 121-22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011)(citing Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002)).

A motion for summary judgment shall be granted “if the pleadings ... show that there is no *genuine* issue as to any *material* fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” George v. Fabri, 345 S.C. 440, 452, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874 (2001) (citing Rule 56(c), SCRCP) (emphasis in original).

“The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder.” Bankers Trust of South Carolina v. Benson, 267 S.C. 152, 155, 226 S.E.2d 703, 704 (1976).

When an appeal involves stipulated or undisputed facts, an appellate court is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to those facts. WDW Properties v. City of Sumter, 342 S.C. 6, 10, 535 S.E.2d 631, 632 (2000) (citing J.K. Constr., Inc. v. Western Carolina Regional Sewer Authority, 336 S.C. 162, 519 S.E.2d 561 (1999)).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not err in granting summary judgment to respondents because no genuine issue of material fact exists and the only relief sought in this action is not available as a matter of law.

Based on the following, respondents assert that the trial court correctly held that there is no genuine issue of material fact in dispute in this matter. Further, there is no factual dispute requiring the services of a fact finder. Accordingly, the trial court properly exercised his discretion in granting summary judgment to respondents. See George v. Fabri, 345 S.C. 440, 452, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874 (2001); Rule 56(c), SCRPC.

As a threshold matter, it is noteworthy that appellant abandoned any attempted challenge to the constitutionality of his SORA registration requirement. (Initial Brief); Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 21, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006) (holding that an issue not address in brief is abandoned). Nevertheless, the appellant's non-punitive SORA registration requirement is in fact constitutional. See State v. Walls, 348 S.C. 26, 31, 558 S.E.2d 524, 526 (2002) (holding South Carolina's registry constitutional and specifically finding that "the Act does not violate the *ex post facto* clauses of the state or federal constitutions."); Hendrix v. Taylor, 353 S.C. 542, 552, 579 S.E.2d 320, 325 (2003) (holding that "the length of time one must be listed on the sex offender registry is non-punitive, and it cannot constitute a deprivation of a constitutionally protected liberty interest."). In addition, SORA is intended for investigative, statistical, and public safety purposes for the citizens of South Carolina and is not meant to punish or violate one's constitutional rights. To that end, § 23-3-400 of the South Carolina Code of Laws specifically provides:

The intent of this article is to promote the state's fundamental right to provide for the public health, welfare,

and safety of its citizens. Notwithstanding this legitimate state purpose, these provisions are not intended to violate the guaranteed constitutional rights of those who have violated our nation's laws.

The sex offender registry will provide law enforcement with the tools needed in investigating criminal offenses. Statistics show that sex offenders often pose a high risk of re-offending. Additionally, law enforcement's efforts to protect communities, conduct investigations, and apprehend offenders who commit sex offenses are impaired by the lack of information about these convicted offenders who live within the law enforcement agency's jurisdiction.

S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-400.

Appellant was convicted of six counts criminal sexual conduct in the first degree and each of these convictions mandate lifetime registration in South Carolina pursuant to SORA. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430; S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-460 (setting forth the circumstances requiring registration in South Carolina and the mandatory lifetime duration of such registration); (Tr. p. 5)(R. p. 30). Moreover, SORA's statutory lifetime registration requirement exists for all sex offenders, including the appellant, and is set forth in a clear and unambiguously worded statute. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-460 ("A person required to register pursuant to this article is required to register biannually for life.").³

As the trial court correctly held, SORA lists the only mechanisms and avenues by which an individual who is properly registered pursuant to SORA can be removed from the registry.⁴ *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(E), (F), (G). Pursuant to § 23-3-430(E), "SLED shall remove a person's name and any other information concerning that person

³ However, certain offenders must register every ninety days. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-460(B).

⁴ In fact, the mechanisms for both placement on and removal from the South Carolina sex offender registry are provided by this same code section. *See* S.C. Code § 23-3-430.

from the sex offender registry immediately upon notification by the Attorney General that the person's adjudication, conviction, guilty plea, or plea of nolo contendere for an offense listed in subsection (C) was reversed, overturned, or vacated on appeal and a final judgment has been rendered." S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(E). Pursuant to § 23-3-430(F), an offender who receives a pardon "based on a finding of not guilty specifically stated in the pardon" shall be removed from sex offender registry. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(F). And finally, § 23-3-430(G) mandates removal for individuals exonerated subsequent to filing a petition for a writ of habeas corpus or a motion for a new trial. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(F). These are the **only lawful avenues** by which an individual who is properly placed on the SORA registry can be removed.

However, there is no genuine issue of material fact to suggest that appellant meets any of these statutory criteria. Rather, as the appellant concedes, appellant has not even sought to avail himself of any of the statutory avenues for removal set forth in SORA. (Initial Brief p. 4) (Tr. pp. 11-12)(R. pp. 36-7). Accordingly, the trial court correctly held that there is no legal or constitutional basis for the appellant to be removed from the SORA registry. Therefore, the trial court correctly granted judgment as a matter of law to the respondents. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-460 (mandating lifetime registration in South Carolina); S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430 (setting forth the only avenues for removal).

The appellant's entire argument in this action is that his non-punitive and constitutional SORA registration requirement is somehow a "wrong" in need of an equitable remedy. This argument is without merit and was correctly rejected by the trial court. The constitutional application of a clear, unambiguous, and non-punitive statute is not a "wrong" cognizable in the law. *See State v. Walls*, 348 S.C. at 31, 558 S.E.2d at

526 (holding South Carolina's registry constitutional and specifically finding that "the Act does not violate the *ex post facto* clauses of the state or federal constitutions."); Hendrix, 353 S.C. at 552, 579 S.E.2d at 325 (holding that "the length of time one must be listed on the sex offender registry is non-punitive, and it cannot constitute a deprivation of a constitutionally protected liberty interest."); Further, it is well-known that "equity follows the law." See Regions Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc., 394 S.C. 241, 254-55, 715 S.E.2d 348, 355 (Ct. App. 2011). Moreover, "[w]hether an individual must be placed on the sex offender registry is a question of law." Lozada v. South Carolina Law Enforcement Div., 395 S.C. 509, 512, 719 S.E.2d 258, 259 (2011) (citing Noisette v. Ismail, 299 S.C. 243, 247, 384 S.E.2d 310, 312 (Ct. App. 1989)).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has also held unequivocally that "the court's equitable powers **must yield** in the face of an unambiguously worded statute." Santee Cooper Resort, Inc. v. S. Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 298 S.C. 179, 185, 379 S.E.2d 119, 123 (1989)(emphasis added); see also Key Corporate Capital, Inc. v. County of Beaufort, 373 S.C. 55, 644 S.E.2d 675 (2007) (finding error in fashioning an equitable remedy in the face of an unambiguously worded statute setting forth certain remedies). As such, the trial court's rejection of the appellant's equitable claim was correct and its findings should not be disturbed on appeal.

Furthermore, for any court to fashion an equitable remedy in the face of an unambiguously worded statute would be a clear violation of the South Carolina Constitution's mandate for the separation of powers. See S.C. Const. art. I, § 8. The South Carolina Constitution specifically provides that "the legislative, executive, and judicial powers of the government shall be forever separate and distinct from each other,

and no person or persons exercising the functions of one of said departments shall assume or discharge the duties of any other.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 8. The duration of sex offender registration is a matter of public policy that is solely in the province of the South Carolina Legislature. As such, any attempt by any court to invade the Legislature’s exclusive province is a violation of the separation of powers and is unconstitutional. *Id.*

In addition, the South Carolina Supreme Court has specifically held that

If a statute’s language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” Buist v. Huggins, 367 S.C. 268, 276, 625 S.E.2d 636, 640 (2006) (internal quotes and citation omitted). Instead, the words of the statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation. *Id.* Moreover, **“it is beyond this Court’s power to effect a change in the statutes enacted by the Legislature.”** State v. Corey D., 339 S.C. 107, 120, 529 S.E.2d 20, 27 (2000); *see also* Keyserling v. Beasley, 322 S.C. 83, 86, 470 S.E.2d 100, 101 (1996) (this Court does **“not sit as a superlegislature to second guess the wisdom or folly of decisions of the General Assembly”**).

Key Corporate Capital, 373 S.C. at 59, 644 S.E.2d at 675 (emphasis added). This entire action sought for the trial court to impermissibly and unconstitutionally act as a “superlegislature” and to add language to an unambiguously worded constitutional statute. As such, the trial court correctly exercised his discretion and rejected this claim as a matter of law.

This situation is also comparable to legislatively mandated sentences for criminal offenses, whether minimums or maximums. With regard to sentencing for an offense that has a mandatory sentence range, the South Carolina Legislature has unilaterally prohibited judges from sentencing individuals outside the statutorily set amounts.

However, these statutory ranges, and more specifically the statutorily mandated minimum sentences are lawful, and have been consistently upheld as being such. See State v. De La Cruz, 302 S.C. 13, 393 S.E.2d 184 (1990); State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 543 S.E.2d 541 (2001); State v. Johnson, 350 S.C. 543, 567 S.E.2d 486 (Ct. App. 2002). In fact, the South Carolina Supreme Court conclusively resolved this issue in De La Cruz indicating

[w]e have held in the past that “[t]he penalty assessed for a particular offense is, except in the rarest of cases, ‘**purely a matter of legislative prerogative**,’ and the legislature’s judgment will not be disturbed.” State v. Smith, 275 S.C. 164, 167, 268 S.E.2d 276, 277 (1980) (quoting Rummel v. Estelle, 445 U.S. 263, 100 S.Ct. 1133, 63 L.Ed.2d 382 (1980)). Judicial discretion in sentencing, in suspending sentences, and in designating that sentences run concurrent or consecutive is subject to statutory restriction. See Mistretta v. United States, 488 U.S. 361, ----, 109 S.Ct. 647, 650, 102 L.Ed.2d 714, 725-726 (1989), wherein the United States Supreme Court noted, “Congress, of course, has the power to fix the sentence for a federal crime, and the scope of judicial discretion with respect to a sentence is subject to congressional control.” (citing United States v. Wiltberger, 18 U.S. (5 Wheat) 76, 5 L.Ed. 37 (1820); Ex Parte United States, 242 U.S. 27, 37 S.Ct. 72, 61 L.Ed. 129 (1916)).

302 S.C. at 15-16, 393 S.E.2d at 186 (emphasis added).⁵ Similarly, the duration of an individual’s sex offender registration is **purely a matter of legislative prerogative** and that there is no judicial discretion over this duration without violating the South Carolina Constitution and South Carolina law. See S.C. Const. art. I, § 8; S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430; S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-460 (setting forth lifetime registration in South Carolina in an unambiguously worded statute); Hendrix, 353 S.C. at 552, 579 S.E.2d at 325 (holding that “the length of time one must be listed on the sex offender registry is non-punitive,

⁵ It is noteworthy that sex offender registration has been consistently held not to be “punitive in purpose or effect as to constitute a criminal penalty.” State v. Walls, 348 S.C. at 31, 558 S.E.2d at 526. However, the same sentiment would apply to an administrative requirement like registration in terms of the legislative prerogative.

and it cannot constitute a deprivation of a constitutionally protected liberty interest.”). As such, the trial court properly exercised his discretion in granting summary judgment to respondents in this matter.

The appellant also attempts to assert that there is a material fact in dispute as to the existence or non-existence of the equitable relief sought in this matter. (Brief of Appellant p. 6). This argument is without merit because any argument regarding the availability of an equitable remedy, or any remedy for that matter, is purely a matter of law. There is no factual dispute at issue whatsoever as to whether South Carolina courts can simply disregard the South Carolina law and remove an individual from the SORA registry in equity. As such, there is no material fact in dispute and trial court correctly granted judgment as a matter of law to the respondents in this matter. Therefore, the trial court’s decision should be upheld and affirmed in its entirety.

II. The trial court did not err in granting summary judgment to respondents because the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry Act (SORA), S.C. Code §§ 23-3-400 *et seq.*, provides adequate relief to all sex offenders in South Carolina, including appellant.

Respondents also assert that SORA provides adequate relief to all sex offenders, including the appellant. It is noteworthy yet again that there is no challenge whatsoever to the constitutionality of SORA in this action. (Initial Brief); Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 21, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006); *see also* State v. Walls, 348 S.C. at 31, 558 S.E.2d at 526 (holding South Carolina's registry constitutional and specifically finding that "the Act does not violate the *ex post facto* clauses of the state or federal constitutions"); Hendrix, 353 S.C. at 552, 579 S.E.2d at 325 (holding that "the length of time one must be listed on the sex offender registry is non-punitive, and it cannot constitute a deprivation of a constitutionally protected liberty interest."). Rather, the only argument set forth in this action is that the South Carolina Legislature enacted an incomplete statute and "should have" afforded individuals like the appellant a "more" meaningful opportunity to seek removal from the SORA registry. As discussed in Section I, *supra*, the duration of an individual's SORA registration requirement is purely a matter of legislative prerogative and whether or not the South Carolina Legislature "should" add additional language to the clear and unambiguous provisions of SORA is a matter for the Legislature that is not constitutionally subject to judicial review. *See Id.*

As noted by the trial court, the South Carolina Supreme Court has specifically held that "the court's equitable powers **must yield** in the face of an unambiguously worded statute." Santee Cooper, 298 S.C. at 185, 379 S.E.2d at 123 (emphasis added). In addition, the Court has specifically held that

If a statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." Buist v. Huggins, 367 S.C. 268, 276, 625 S.E.2d 636, 640 (2006) (internal quotes and citation omitted). Instead, the words of the statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. *Id.* Moreover, **"it is beyond this Court's power to effect a change in the statutes enacted by the Legislature."** State v. Corey D., 339 S.C. 107, 120, 529 S.E.2d 20, 27 (2000); *see also* Keyserling v. Beasley, 322 S.C. 83, 86, 470 S.E.2d 100, 101 (1996) (this Court does **"not sit as a superlegislature to second guess the wisdom or folly of decisions of the General Assembly"**).

Key Corporate Capital, 373 S.C. at 59, 644 S.E.2d at 675 (emphasis added).